UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE FI FTH CI RCU T

No. 00-30595

LYCON | NC,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellant,

VERSUS

M CHAEL S. JUENKE, individually and
as corporate officer of EVI QI Tools Inc; EVI OL TOOLS | NC,

Def endant s- Appel | ees.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Western District of Louisiana

April 27, 2001
Bef ore STEWART and PARKER, Circuit Judges, and GOLDBERG, Judge.”’
ROBERT M PARKER, Circuit Judge:

Plaintiff Lycon, Inc. appeals the sunmary judgnent entered in
favor of Defendants EVI QI Tools, Inc. and Mchael S. Juenke
(collectively “EVMI”) in this price discrimnation action. Finding

no error, we affirm

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HI STORY

“Judge of the United States Court of International Trade, sitting
by desi gnati on.



Lycon sued EVI, alleging that EVI had violated federal
antitrust laws by engaging in price discrimnation in violation of
15 U.S.C. 8 13, as well as asserting cl ainms under Loui siana | aw for
price discrimnation, unfair trade practices, unfair sales, trade
secrets violations, tortious interference, and breach of inplied
contract. EVI noved for summary judgnent.

Viewing the sunmary judgnent evidence in the 1light nost
favorable to Lycon, the non-novant, the record reveals the
followng facts. In April 1996, EVI purchased the assets of
Production Specialties, Inc. (“PSI”) of Lafayette, Louisiana, which
manuf actured gas lift equi pnent for use in oil production. EVI’'s
purchase of PSI was its initial entry into the gas lift equi pnent
market. FromJuly 1, 1994 until the acquisition of PSI by EVI, Ron
Massicot and R G eg Maxwel | worked as conm ssi oned sal esnen for
PSI in Sout hwest Loui siana. Shortly after the purchase of PSI
Massi cot and Maxwell nmet with EVI representatives who expl ai ned
that EVI intended to sell its gas lift equipnent to end users
t hrough i ndependent whol esal e distributors. EVI offered Mssicot
and Maxwel | the opportunity to operate as such distributors to the
retail market. Massi cot and Maxwel| accepted the offer. They
reactivated Lycon, a dormant corporation owed by Mssicot, hired
former PSI  enployees, opened an office, secured warehouse
facilities, obtained the necessary i nsurance and began selling EVI
gas lift equipnent to retail clients such as oil production and

oper ati ng conpani es.



In October 1997, EVI began nmaking direct sales to retai
cust oners. In the Spring of 1998, EVI nerged with Watherford
Enterra, Inc., another corporation with subsidiaries in the gas
lift equipnment manufacturing business, becomng one of two
remai ning manufacturers of gas |ift mandrels in the world.
Effective April 1998, EVI anended its whol esale price |ist, raising
whol esal e prices of gas |ift equi pnent and reducing retail prices,
resulting in retail prices substantially |ower than wholesale
prices. Wolesale prices were raised again in Cctober 1999. At
this point, wholesale distributors, including Lycon, were paying
more for EVI's gas lift equipnment than end users who bought the
equi pnent directly from EVI.

The district court granted sunmary j udgnent for EVI, reasoning
that “Lycon cannot prove that EVI's alleged price discrimnation

had a prohibited effect on conpetition . Havi ng di sposed of
the only claim that provided a basis for federal question
jurisdiction, the district court dismssed Lycon’s remai ning state
law clainms without prejudice pursuant to 28 U S.C. §8 1367(3).
DI SCUSSI ON

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgnent is reviewed de novo, applying the sane
standard on appeal that is applied by the district court. See,

e.g., Reliance Nat’'l Ins. Co. v. Estate of Tominson, 171 F.3d

1033, 1035 (5th Cir. 1999). Under Federal Rule of G vil Procedure



56(c), sunmmary judgnent is appropriate when there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and the noving party is entitled to
judgnent as a matter of |aw See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477
U S. 317, 322-23 (1986).

B. Prohibited Effect on Conpetition

Lycon contends that the district court erred in holding that
it could not prove that the difference between EVI's whol esal e and
retail pricing of gas lift equipnment had a prohibited effect on
conpetition, either directly or indirectly. This claimrequires
interpretation of section 2(a) of the Cayton Act, as anended in
1936 by t he Robi nson-Pat man Act, 15 U.S.C. §8 13(a), which provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person engaged i n conmerce,

in the course of such comerce, either directly or

indirectly, to discrimnate in price between different

purchasers of comobdities of |ike grade and quality,
where either or any of the purchases involved in such
discrimnation are in comrerce, where such commodities

are sold for use, consunption, or resale within the

United States . . . and where the effect of such

di scrim nation may be substantially to |l essen conpetition

or tend to create a nonopoly in any |line of conmerce, or

to injure, destroy, or prevent conpetition with any

person who either grants or knowingly receives the

benefit of such discrimnation, or with custoners of

ei ther of them.

According to the Suprenme Court, establishing a violation of §
13(a), requires Lycon to prove four facts: (1) sales nmmde in
interstate commerce; (2) the commodities sold to Lycon were of the
sane grade and quality as those sold to other purchasers; (3) that
EVI discrimnated in price between Lycon and ot her purchasers; and

(4) that the discrimnation had a prohi bited effect on conpetition.

4



Texaco, Inc. v. Hasbrouck, 496 U S. 543, 556 (1990). The parties
do not dispute that Lycon submtted evidence sufficient to survive
summary judgnent on the first three factors. The fourth factor -
whet her the discrimnation had the prohibited effect on conpetition
— is the focus of the district court’s summary judgnent analysis
and of this appeal.

The district court reasoned that the price discrimnations
between end users and wholesale distributors, including Lycon
favored only retail purchasers that were not in conpetition wth
Lycon and that such price discrimnation was not actionable,
relying principally upon Exinto, Inc. v. Trane Co., 737 F.2d 505
(5th Gir. 1984).

I n Exi nto, a whol esale distributer (Exinto), which took title
to air conditioning and heating equi pnent from the manufacturer
(Trane), challenged as discrimnatory the alleged “sale” by Trane
of simlar products to Shepherd, an agent of Trane. 1d. at 508-
509. In conpetition with Exi nto, Shepherd arranged retail sales to
custoners; Trane shi pped the equi pnent and passed title directly to
the custonmer. 1d. Relying on Security Tire & Rubber Co. v. Gates
Rubber Co., 598 F.2d 962 (5th Cr. 1979), which established the
rule that “transfers froma parent corporation to its wholly owned
subsi di ary corporation can never be considered separate sales to a
favored custoner i n a Robi nson-Pat man Act discrimnation suit,” id.

at 965, we found that Shepherd functioned as a subsidiary of Trane.



Exi nco, 737 F.2d at 516. It follows, we held, that Trane and
Shepherd were acting as a “single unit,” and thus, no predicate
“sal e” was nmade between Trane and Shepherd. 1d.

Wi | e acknowl edging that Exinco is factually simlar to the
present case, Lycon argues that the district court erred in
applying its ruling here because Lycon chall enges the sale of gas
lift equipnment from EVI directly to Lycon’s retail custoners,
rather than a transfer between EVI and its own subsidiary. Lycon
is correct that Exinto did not challenge the sale by Trane to the
retail custonmer as discrimnatory, and thus Exinto’s ruling is not
directly controlling.

Nevert hel ess, we are conpelled to follow Exi nto’s reasoni ng,
whi ch expl ai ned that injury under § 13(a) “w !l be one of two basic
types: primary line or secondary line.” Exinto, 737 F.2d at 515.
Primary-line injury, which occurs at the level of direct
conpetition, customarily results when a seller uses predatory
pricing policies to enhance his market position over conpetitors,
whil e secondary line injury customarily results when a |arge
purchaser uses its vast purchasing power to obtain | ow prices from
t he manufacturers or distributors whose products it stocks, thereby
enabling it to undersell conpetitors. 1d.

Lycon argues that EVI's price structure caused injury to Lycon
in a “dual-role context” as a purchaser from EVI and as a

conpetitor against EVI inthe retail market. Because Lycon is both



EVI's conpetitor and custoner, it suffered both primary and
secondary line injuries. Lycon also argues, sonmewhat
i nconsistently, that the primary/secondary dichotony is a usel ess
abstraction in this situation.

Because the record discloses no injury to Lycon that § 13(a)
contenpl ated protecting against, we will affirmthe district court.
Lycon does not conpete with EVI in manufacturing gas |ift equi pnment
and Exi nto forecl oses any cause of action based on EVI's transfers
to its wholly owned retail outlet. ld. at 516 (holding that a
transfer of inventory from a manufacturer to a wholly owned
subsidiary corporation was not a “purchase” for purposes of 8§
13(a)).

2. Continued vitality of Exinto

Lycon next contends that, even if Exinto forecloses its cause
of action, the Suprene Court’s 1990 analysis in Hasbrouck
undermnes or limts the Fifth Circuit interpretation of § 13(a)
set out in Exinto. |In Hasbrouck, independent Texaco retailers, who
bought gasoline directly fromTexaco, sued Texaco clai mng that the
sal e of gasoline at | ower prices to wholesale distributors, who in
turn sold to retailers who conpeted with the plaintiffs,
constituted price discrimnation in violation of the Robinson-
Pat man Act. Hasbrouck, 496 U. S. at 547. The Suprene Court held
that the substantial |essening of conpetition between the favored

whol esal e distributors’ custoners (retailers in direct conpetition



with the independent Texaco retailers) and the i ndependent Texaco
retailers constituted a violation of § 13(a)(8 2(a) of the
Robi nson-Patman Act). Id. at 571. The Suprene Court focused on
whet her the price discrimnation caused injury to conpetition
regardl ess of whether the favored purchaser was a direct conpetitor
at the sane functional |evel as the disadvantaged purchaser. |d.
I nsofar as Hasbrouck addresses conpetitive consequences at
different levels of distribution, it recognizes that anti-
conpetitive effects can occur based on price discrimnation between
distributors and retail ers who both buy froma singl e manufacturer.
Id. at 557-59. Hasbrouck does not di scuss Exi nto, nor does it cal
Exi nto’s holding or analysis into question. Rat her, it exam nes
the effects on conpetition growing out of a differently arranged
mar ket .

Simlarly, Lycon’s reliance on Caribe BMN Inc. v. Bayerische
Mot oren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, 19 F.3d 745 (1st Cr. 1994), is
m spl aced. As in Hasbrouck, the plaintiffs in Caribe BMVN were
retailers who bought directly fromthe manufacturer. 1d. at 748.
They chal | enged BMN's practice of selling cars to a distributor at
a discounted price; in turn the distributor resold the cars to
other retailers who conpeted with the plaintiffs for sales to end
users and enjoyed a price advantage based upon the discount that
was passed along to themby the distributor. 1d. at 748-49. Far

from supporting Lycon’s position, Caribe BMN serves to highlight



the distinction between Hasbrouck and the case at bar. Antitrust
concerns about conpetitive effects based on prices paid by buyers
who conpete for resale at different levels are irrelevant here
because Lycon and the end users who buy directly from EVI do not
conpete for resale at any |evel.

In sum Lycon’s allegation of price discrimnation between
itself and end user custoners of EVI, who are not retailers and do
not resell the product, does not raise the specter of real or
potential injury to conpetition. Lycon has no § 13(a) cause of
action because it is not in conpetition with the allegedly
advant aged end users. See Security Tire & Rubber, 598 F.2d at 964
(holding that the Robinson-Patman Act targets anti-conpetitive
price discrimnation anong conpeting buyers). W therefore find no
merit in Lycon’s invocation of Hasbrouck and Cari be BMN

CONCLUSI ON

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that the district court
did not err in granting summary judgnent to EVI based on its
hol ding that, as a matter of |law, Lycon could not prove that EVI's
discrimnatory pricing of gas |ift equipnent had a prohibited
ef fect on conpetition.

AFFI RVED.



